



Population Change in Atlantic Canada: Looking at the Past, Thinking About the Future

Frank T. Denton, Christine H. Feaver, and Byron G. Spencer McMaster University





Atlantic Institute for Market Studies

The Atlantic Institute for Market Studies (AIMS) is an independent, non-partisan, social and economic policy think tank based in Halifax. The Institute was founded by a group of Atlantic Canadians to broaden the debate about the realistic options available to build our economy.

AIMS was incorporated as a non-profit corporation under Part II of the Canada Corporations Act, and was granted charitable registration by Revenue Canada as of October 3, 1994.

The Institute's chief objectives include:

a) initiating and conducting research, identifying current and emerging economic and public policy issues facing Atlantic Canadians, and Canadians more generally, including research into the economic and social characteristics and potentials of Atlantic Canada and its four constituent provinces;

b) investigating and analysing the full range of options for public and private sector responses to the issues identified and to act as a catalyst for informed debate on those options, with a particular focus on strategies for overcoming Atlantic Canada's economic challenges in terms of regional disparities;

c) communicating the conclusions of its research to a regional and national audience in a clear, non-partisan way;

d) sponsoring or organising conferences, meetings, seminars, lectures, training programs, and publications, using all media of communication (including, without restriction, the electronic media) for the purpose of achieving these objectives.

Board of Directors

Chairman: Purdy Crawford President: Don Cayo

Directors: Malcolm Baxter, John Bragg, Don Cayo, George T.H. Cooper, Hon. John C. Crosbie, Brian Lee Crowley, Richard P. Eusanio, James Gogan, John C. Hartery, Frederick E. Hyndman, Colin Latham, Denis Losier, Beverley Keating MacIntyre, David Mann, H. Stanley Marshall, J. W. E. Mingo, James W. Moir Jr., Peter J. M. Nicholson, James S. Palmer, Arnold G. Park, Gerald L. Pond, John Risley, Jacquelyn Thayer Scott, Joseph Shannon, Allan C. Shaw, Tom Traves, Victor L. Young

Board of Research Advisors

Professor Colin Dodds, Vice-President Academic and Research, Saint Mary's University; Professor Jim Feehan, Memorial University; Professor Doug May, Memorial University; Professor Jim McNiven, Dalhousie University; Professor William Milne, University of New Brunswick; Professor Edwin G. West, Carleton University

1657 Barrington Street, Suite 521, Halifax, Nova ScotiaB3J 2A1Telephone: (902) 429-1143Fax: (902) 425-1393E-mail: aims@aims.caWeb site: http://www.aims.ca

Population Change in Atlantic Canada: Looking at the Past, Thinking About the Future

by

Frank T. Denton, Christine H. Feaver, and Byron G. Spencer



About the Authors

Frank T. Denton, B.A., M.A., F.R.S.C., is Professor Emeritus of Economics at McMaster University and former Director of the McMaster Program (now Research Institute) for Quantitative Studies in Economics and Population. Before coming to McMaster he served for some fourteen years in research and administrative capacities with various government and private agencies. Previous positions include Senior Advisor on Research and Econometrics and Director of the Econometric Research Staff at Statistics Canada. He is a Fellow of the Royal Society of Canada, a Fellow of the American Statistical Association, a Fellow of the Royal Statistical Society, and an elected member of the International Statistical Institute, the International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, and the National Bureau of Economic Research Conference on Income and Wealth. His work has been published in a large number of books, monographs and articles in professional journals of economics, statistics, and demography.

Christine H. Feaver, B.A., is an Associate of the McMaster Research Institute for Quantitative Studies in Economics and Population. Her areas of expertise include computational econometrics, economic-demographic modelling, and computer programming.

Byron G. Spencer, B.A., Ph.D., is Professor of Economics and Director of the McMaster Research Institute for Quantitative Studies in Economics and Population. His areas of specialization include economic demography, applied econometrics, and health economics. He was the Principal Investigator for the McMaster Research Program on the Independence and Economic Security of the Older Population (IESOP) funded by Health Canada as part of its Seniors' Independence Research Program. He is an elected member of the International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, and has published extensively in the form of books, monographs, and articles in professional journals.

The authors of this report have worked independently and are solely responsible for the views presented here. The opinions are not necessarily those of the Atlantic Institute for Market Studies, its Directors, or Supporters.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary 1
Introduction
Historical Perspective
The Components of Population Change 11
The Labour Force: Growth, Size, and Composition17
The Future Population 22
The Future Labour Force
Age Structure and Dependency Relations 33
Changing the Projection Assumptions 37
What Effects on the Economy? 40
Summing Up 44
References

Executive Summary

The Atlantic Region has experienced considerable demographic growth in recent decades. Nevertheless, its percentage of the Canadian population has declined continuously during the past half-century, and further declines seem likely. In large measure that can be attributed to the fact that the region, and each province in it, receives disproportionately small shares of immigrants to Canada.

Like the rest of the country, the Atlantic Provinces experienced the postwar baby boom, and the subsequent bust. In consequence their populations are now aging, in a collective sense. In just over a decade the first of the baby boomers will be "old", by conventional definition, and the percentage of population 65 and over will rise continuously in the coming decades.

If fertility rates remain at or near their current low levels, population growth will eventually be replaced by decline.

Net migration to and from the rest of Canada has been strongly negative in Newfoundland in recent years, and the population of that province has actually decreased. Even if a migration balance is restored, the outlook is for substantial further declines in Newfoundland as a result of its exceptionally low fertility rate. While slower growth and eventual declines are in prospect throughout the Atlantic Region, the trend is likely to be much more pronounced in Newfoundland.

As the rate of population growth diminishes in Atlantic Canada, so too does the rate of growth of the labour force. That, coupled with relatively low participation rates, has important implications for the future productive capacity of the region. Actual levels of production (and hence income) continue to be restricted by unemployment rates well above the national average.

In some other respects, the labour force patterns of the region are similar to those of Canada as a whole, most notably the increased participation of women.



2

The relationship between the working and non-working components of the population can be captured in a simple way by "dependency ratios." Two calculations are significant —the ratio of the total population to the population 20 to 64 years of age, and—the ratio of the total population to the labour force. Both types reflect the "burden" of the age distribution at any given time.

The projections indicate that the "dependency burden" will rise in Atlantic Canada, as elsewhere in the country. And it will continue to rise far into the future, as expected when the population ages. However, even by 2036, the end of the projection period, the "burden" will fall short of what it was in the 1950s and 1960s. The dependent population will be predominantly elderly rather than youthful, as in those earlier decades, but the overall ratios will not be as high. In light of that, issues of reallocation of resources will be the important ones to focus on, rather than the total "cost" of population aging.

The study focuses mainly on a particular set of demographic projections, based on what the researchers think are reasonable assumptions. The projections, like all others, will be wrong; to state the obvious, no one can anticipate the future with certainty. However, alternative projections suggest that the main conclusions are unlikely to be affected much by changing the assumptions. Faster declines in mortality rates would have little effect on the growth and age distribution of the population. Nothing suggests that fertility rates will increase sharply, but even if they do, the age distribution will still shift toward the older end; population aging will still be a future fact of life.

Changes in rates of migration would alter the rates of growth of course, but they too would not reverse the collective aging process. Indeed, if outmigration remains at recent levels in the Atlantic Region as a whole, especially in Newfoundland, the increases in the proportions of elderly people would generally be greater than what this paper predicts, inasmuch as migrants tend to be younger adults.

Slower growth and aging affect the labour force, and hence a region's ability to generate output and income. But they affect virtually all other aspects of the economy too. They affect patterns of saving and household consumption, and hence investment. They have differential effects on sales, production, and investment levels in different industries, and their impact thus falls unevenly on different areas within a region. They affect the tax bases from which provincial governments draw revenue, and they affect the demands for government program expenditures. Work carried out in other contexts suggests the importance of anticipating the effects of population change on government expenditures.



Education, pensions, and health care are major budgetary components that are obviously sensitive to population change, and they deserve special attention. In the case of health care, it is particularly important that the delivery system be viewed as just that—a system—in assessing the implications of population change. Future resource availability must be considered, as well as requirements. That is also true of education and other government program areas, but it is especially important in the case of health care, where piecemeal and inconsistent policies are a greater risk.

The study makes a number of further observations concerning the relationships between prospective demographic change and public expenditures.

In each province in the Atlantic region planners should anticipate that the school age population will be much smaller in the years ahead than it is today. That is of major practical concern: How many teachers will be required in 10, 20, or 30 years in each province? How many will have to be hired, after taking into account the likely numbers of retirements and departures for other reasons? What are the implications for teacher training? How much classroom space will be needed?

At the other end of the age spectrum, planners should anticipate large increases in the numbers of elderly people. What health care and other services will be required to meet the needs of a rapidly aging population? How much of each type of service? And how will future needs for personnel and facilities compare with what are likely to be available?

Only careful analysis can provide the information required to make well informed policy decisions, and policies that take prospective demographic changes into account are likely to be better than those that ignore them. The case was put strongly in the April 1995 Notice of Motion establishing the Select Committee of the Legislature on Demographics in New Brunswick: "It is imperative for government to understand and assess the impact of our changing society in the context of our aging population and the demands and challenges this presents for the design and delivery of programs and services" (Province of New Brunswick, 1996).



NTRODUCTION

The population of a nation changes gradually but continuously. It is renewed by births, augmented by immigration, and depleted by deaths and emigration. And, of course, its members grow older year by year as they move through the life cycle. The population has a long "memory" too: a statistical snapshot at census time reveals it to have a certain size and age composition, reflecting the demographic events of the previous hundred years or so, and indeed, through intergenerational connections, even further back in history. In large measure, the Canadian demographic future is predetermined by the population of today. The baby boomers, born in the two decades following World War II, are now in middle age, and within little more than a decade the first of them will qualify to be called "old". The generation behind them is much smaller, and the record of the 1990s gives no indication that another major birth boom is likely. The population of Canada is thus slowly aging, in a collective sense, and the aging process will continue through many more decades.

What is true for Canada is true for its constituent regions. Patterns of immigration from abroad and migration within the country, and differences in birth and death rates, have engendered faster rates of change in some parts of the country, slower rates in others. But population aging is a prominent characteristic of all regions, and will remain so well into the next century. It is against that background that we give our attention in this paper to the demographic past and future of the Atlantic Provinces.

We begin below with a brief review of some demographic history, going back to the 1950s. We compare the rates of growth in the region and its four provinces with the national rate, take note of their changing shares of the Canadian population, and look at the shifts in age distribution that have occurred over the decades. We then analyse the changes in population in terms of their components—the contributions of births, deaths, and migration. A question of particular interest is the extent to which the decline in the region's population as a percentage of the Canadian population can be attributed to its disproportionately low share of Canadian immigrants.

Demographic change and economic change are inextricably linked, and nowhere is that more obvious than in the population-labour-force nexus. The baby boomers began to enter



6

the working population on a full time basis around the mid-1960s and their influx continued until the first half of the 1980s. Rates of labour force growth fell sharply thereafter. We review the recent labour force history of the Atlantic Provinces in that setting, and compare it with that of Canada as a whole.

From the past we turn to the future. Using a computer-based demographic model that we have developed and applied in other studies, we project the size and age distribution of the population and labour force for each of the four Atlantic Provinces, and for the region as a whole. Our initial projection—Projection A, as we shall call it—is based on what we regard as realistic assumptions, in the absence of a major change in patterns of demographic behaviour. However, we present some alternative projections too, in order to explore the implications of different assumptions. In all of the projections we take a long view; populations change slowly, and the collective aging process will be with us far into the 21st century. While considering the nearer-term outlook, we think it helpful to consider also the prospects for the next several decades in order to see where Atlantic Canada is headed in the long run in terms of its population and work force.

From a policy perspective, an important question is whether one province, or perhaps the Atlantic Provinces acting in concert, could affect the course of population growth, or whether they must simply respond to demographic changes as they evolve, and make the best of it. The answer is not simple. People tend to move to areas that are prospering and leave those that are not, and it makes no sense to try to attract more immigrants or to hold young people in a region where they cannot find employment. Successful policies leading to more rapid economic growth in the Atlantic Region would be likely to encourage population growth, both by reducing (or even reversing) net interprovincial outmigration and by attracting immigrants. But, as much experience attests, policies leading to find.¹ The search for such policies is, however, not in any central way a *demographic* matter: successful economic policies may have an impact on population growth, but it would probably be better to view that as a by-product rather than their main focus.



¹ The relatively poor economic performance of Atlantic Canada and the associated sustained high rate of unemployment have been the subject of many studies, including Melvin (1987), Atlantic Provinces Economic Council (1987), and DRI (1994). Beyond that, Newfoundland, with its particularly poor economic performance, has been the subject of numerous investigations, including Economic Council of Canada (1980), Copithorne (1986), House (1986), and Feehan (1991).

The general outlook for Canada over the next few decades is one of continuous population aging, a trend that will almost certainly be more pronounced in the Atlantic Region, as we show below. That prospect has raised many concerns. Large increases in health care costs are anticipated, and even larger increases in pension costs. Will the social programs that were put in place three decades ago, when those born during the baby boom were still young, be sustainable in another two or three decades, when the baby boomers are old? Questions of that kind are at the forefront of public concern and debate, with anxieties heightened by occasional pronouncements from apparently knowledgeable people suggesting future insolvency of the Canada Pension Plan, or expressing concern about prospective intergenerational conflicts. We have written about some aspects of those topics elsewhere (Denton and Spencer, 1978, 1985, 1995, 1997). Here we restrict attention more narrowly to demographic matters, and identify those of particular relevance for publicpolicy.

An important aspect of population structure is the relationship between economically "dependent" and economically "active" age groups—between the young and the elderly, on the one hand, and the working population or labour force, on the other. We review the history of "dependency ratios" in the provinces of Atlantic Canada, and evaluate current and projected future ratios in light of the historical ones. The significance of the dependency ratios is that they can be interpreted as measures of the relative "burden" to society of its age distribution, having regard for the costs of raising and educating children, and of supporting and caring for the elderly.

The effects of population change on the labour force and dependency ratios have important implications for the economies of the provinces in the Atlantic Region. However, there is much more to be considered in assessing demographic effects on those economies, and the likely impact on future development. Detailed analyses and projections of the effects are beyond the scope of this paper but we devote some space to an outline of how the population and the economy interact with each other, and the kinds of questions that should be addressed if a careful assessment of the economic effects of future population change were to be undertaken. We note the importance of population aging for the health care and education systems within a province, and for public expenditures over the full range of government budget categories.

The paper ends with a brief summary of its major conclusions.



HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE

The people of Atlantic Canada numbered somewhat more than 1.6 million in 1951, the year of the first national census taken after Newfoundland joined the confederation. In 1996 the population numbered just under 2.4 million, a gain of almost 50 per cent. During the same period, the Canadian population more than doubled. Thus, although the Atlantic Region has experienced considerable population growth, its share of the national total has declined. The region accounted for 11.5 per cent of the total in 1951, 8.0 per cent in 1996.

The pattern has been consistent, as Table 1 shows. While the population of the region has risen in every five-year period since 1951, its share of the national total has fallen in every period. Net losses through migration to other parts of Canada go some way towards explaining the declining share, but much of the explanation is to be found in the disproportionately small numbers of immigrants to Canada who have taken up residence in the region. We explore that matter in the next section.

The long-run growth pattern has been much the same in each of the four provinces. The population of each has increased in size, but decreased as a percentage of the Canadian total. Within the region, the percentage shares have changed only a little. A modest increase in Newfoundland's share, from 22.4 per cent in 1951 to 23.6 per cent in 1996, was offset by small declines in the shares of Prince Edward Island (6.1 per cent, falling to 5.7) and Nova Scotia (39.6, falling to 38.8); New Brunswick's share was virtually the same in 1996 as in 1951 (31.9 per cent). The population of Atlantic Canada today is distributed among its constituent provinces in pretty much the same way as it was almost half a century ago.



Table 1: The Population of the Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1951-1996

	1951	1956	1961	1966	1971	1976	1981	1986	1991	1996
Population ('000)										
Newfoundland	369.0	423 7	467 1	503.3	532.9	563 9	576.5	578 1	580.3	565.0
Prince Edward Island	99.5	100.4	105.7	109.7	112.8	118.8	124.0	128.8	130.8	136.2
Nova Scotia	651.3	703.9	746.4	765.5	799.3	836.6	856.4	892.1	917.9	930.7
New Brunswick	523.8	563.1	606.8	625.9	644.4	691.5	708.4	727.7	748.5	766.0
Atlantic Region	1643.7	1791.0	1926.0	2004.3	2089.4	2210.8	2265.3	2326.7	2377.6	2397.9
Canada	14315.5	16426.2	18621.4	20430.7	22026.4	23517.5	24900.0	26203.8	28120.1	29840.6
Increase, last 5 years	('000)									
Newfoundland		54.7	43.4	36.2	29.6	31	12.6	1.6	2.2	-15.3
Prince Edward Island		0.9	5.3	4	3.1	6	5.2	4.8	2	5.4
Nova Scotia		52.6	42.5	19.1	33.8	37.3	19.8	35.7	25.8	12.8
New Brunswick		39.3	43.7	19.1	18.5	47.1	16.9	19.3	20.8	17.5
Atlantic Region		147.3	135	78.3	85.1	121.4	54.5	61.4	50.9	20.3
Canada		2110.7	2195.2	1809.3	1595.7	1491.1	1382.5	1303.8	1916.3	1720.5
% Increase, last 5 ye	ars									
Newfoundland		14.8	10.2	7.7	5.9	5.8	2.2	0.3	0.4	-2.6
Prince Edward Island		0.9	5.3	3.8	2.8	5.3	4.4	3.9	1.6	4.1
Nova Scotia		8.1	6.0	2.6	4.4	4.7	2.4	4.2	2.9	1.4
New Brunswick		7.5	7.8	3.1	3.0	7.3	2.4	2.7	2.9	2.3
Atlantic Region		9.0	7.5	4.1	4.2	5.8	2.5	2.7	2.2	0.9
Canada		14.7	13.4	9.7	7.8	6.8	5.9	5.2	7.3	6.1
% of Region										
Newfoundland	22.4	23.7	24.3	25.1	25.5	25.5	25.4	24.8	24.4	23.6
Prince Edward Island	6.1	5.6	5.5	5.5	5.4	5.4	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.7
Nova Scotia	39.6	39.3	38.8	38.2	38.3	37.8	37.8	38.3	38.6	38.8
New Brunswick	31.9	31.4	31.5	31.2	30.8	31.3	31.3	31.3	31.5	31.9
Atlantic Region	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
% of Canada										
Newfoundland	2.6	2.6	2.5	2.5	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.2	2.1	1.9
Prince Edward Island	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Nova Scotia	4.5	4.3	4.0	3.7	3.6	3.6	3.4	3.4	3.3	3.1
New Brunswick	3.7	3.4	3.3	3.1	2.9	2.9	2.8	2.8	2.7	2.6
Atlantic Region	11.5	10.9	10.3	9.8	9.5	9.4	9.1	8.9	8.5	8.0

Note: The population figures relate to July 1. For 1971 to 1996, they are taken or calculated from published Statistics Canada data; for 1951 to 1966, June 1 census figures have been adjusted by the authors to reflect current Statistics Canada definitions.



10

The age distribution of the population is quite a different matter; it has been anything but constant over the past four or five decades, as Table 2 makes clear. The postwar baby boom, and the subsequent baby bust, were historical experiences shared throughout the country, and the Atlantic Region was no exception. (Roughly the same boom and bust sequence was experienced throughout the United States too, and in a number of other developed countries.) In 1961, more than 46 per cent of the people in the region were under the age of 20. (The all-Canada figure was about 42 per cent.) By 1996, the proportion had fallen below 27 per cent (about equal to the all-Canada figure). Concomitantly, the proportion 65 and older rose from less than 8 per cent to more than 12 per cent. In Newfoundland, the median age of the population was 20.9 in 1971; by 1996 it had risen to 33.9, a quite remarkable change in just two and a half decades. The increases in median age were a little smaller in the other three provinces, but large nevertheless: 24.8 to 34.5 in Prince Edward Island; 25.4 to 35.5 in Nova Scotia; 23.9 to 35.2 in New Brunswick. For comparison, the all-Canada median rose from 26.2 to 35.2. The pattern of collective aging is well established. It will be a dominant feature in the demography of Atlantic Canada, as in the rest of the country, for a long time to come.

	1951	1956	1961	1966	1971	1976	1981	1986	1991	1996
% of population un	nder 20									
Newfoundland	47.1	48.9	51.0	51.0	48.3	44.6	40.3	35.7	31.6	27.3
Prince Edward Island	41.6	42.9	44.3	44.7	41.9	38.9	35.2	31.4	30.2	28.6
Nova Scotia	40.4	41.8	43.3	43.3	40.5	37.3	33.4	29.5	27.7	26.1
New Brunswick	43.7	45.2	46.7	46.4	42.7	39.1	35.1	30.8	28.6	26.2
Atlantic Region	43.0	44.6	46.3	46.2	43.2	39.8	35.8	31.5	29.1	26.6
Canada	37.6	39.4	41.5	41.8	39.1	35.6	31.8	28.6	27.5	26.7
% of population 65	and over									
Newfoundland	6.4	5.9	5.8	5.9	6.1	6.5	7.6	8.7	9.6	10.6
Prince Edward Island	9.8	10.3	10.4	10.7	11.0	11.2	12.1	12.6	13.1	13.0
Nova Scotia	8.4	8.4	8.5	8.8	9.1	9.7	10.9	11.8	12.4	12.8
New Brunswick	7.5	7.7	7.8	8.1	8.6	8.9	10.0	11.0	11.9	12.6
Atlantic Region	7.8	7.7	7.8	8.0	8.3	8.7	9.8	10.8	11.6	12.2
Canada	7.7	7.7	7.6	7.6	8.0	8.6	9.6	10.5	11.4	12.2

Table 2: Percentages of the Population Under 20 Years of Age and 65 and Over, Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1951-1996



The Components of Population Change

Statistics Canada conducts a national census every five years and produces detailed estimates of the population for each noncensus year. The change in the population of a province or region between the middle of one year and the middle of the next is exactly equal to the number of births, minus the number of deaths, plus migration into the region, minus migration out of it. The Statistics Canada estimates are calculated in just that way by starting with the most recent census, adding births and in-migration, and subtracting deaths and emigration. Unavoidably, the estimates are not exact. Migration is particularly difficult to measure. Moreover, the census enumerations themselves are subject to some error, and require adjustment for estimated undercounting. Nevertheless, the work of Statistics Canada provides not only a record of the changes in population from year to year and census to census, but also a record of the sources of change—the contributions of births, deaths, and migration flows of different types. We organize the records into a set of demographic accounts in Tables 3 and 4. Table 3 shows, for the region and each province, as well as Canada, the changes in population over five-year intervals, from 1971 to 1996, and the contributions to those changes of births, deaths, and net in-migration from all sources. Table 4 shows the main components of migration for the same periodimmigration from other countries, emigration to other countries, in-migration from the rest of Canada, and out-migration to the rest of Canada.

Births exceeded deaths in every period shown in Table 3, and indeed in every single year of the quarter-century covered by the table. But the gap has narrowed. In 1971-76, there were about 193,000 births and 82,000 deaths in the Atlantic Region as a whole, and thus a natural increase in population of 111,000; in 1991-96, there were 143,000 births and 93,000 deaths, leaving a natural increase of only 50,000. Similar patterns of decline in natural increase can be seen in each of the four provinces. Underlying the declines in births are dramatic decreases in fertility rates (the average numbers of children born per woman at different ages in the childbearing range). The decreases in fertility commenced early in the 1960s, continued through the 1970s, and have left the rates at unprecedentedly low levels in the 1980s and 1990s—so low that if the rates were to remain at those levels the population eventually would fail to reproduce itself, and only immigration could keep it from a continuous decline.



Table 3: The Major Components of Population Change in the Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1971-1976 to 1991-1996

	1971-76	1976-81	1981-86	1986-91	1991-96
		(tl	housands)		
Newfoundland					
Population increase	31.0	12.6	1.6	2.2	-15.3
Births	58.5	51.0	44.1	38.3	32.6
Deaths	16.5	16.0	17.4	18.5	19.6
Apparent net in-migration	-11.0	-22.4	-25.1	-17.6	-28.3
Prince Edward Island					
Population increase	6.0	5.2	4.8	2.0	5.4
Births	9.8	9.8	9.8	9.8	8.8
Deaths	5.3	5.1	5.3	5.6	5.7
Apparent net in-migration	1.5	0.5	0.3	-2.2	2.3
Nova Scotia					
Population increase	37.3	19.8	35.7	25.8	12.8
Births	66.4	62.1	61.8	61.9	56.5
Deaths	34.4	34.7	35.3	36.7	38.3
Apparent net in-migration	5.3	-7.6	9.2	0.6	-5.4
New Brunswick					
Population increase	47.1	16.9	19.3	20.8	17.5
Births	58.5	54.9	51.7	48.3	44.9
Deaths	25.6	25.9	26.4	27.2	29.2
Apparent net in-migration	14.2	-12.1	-6.0	-0.3	1.8
Atlantic Region					
Population increase	121.4	54.5	61.4	50.9	20.3
Births	193.2	177.7	167.4	158.3	142.8
Deaths	81.7	81.7	84.4	88.0	92.7
Apparent net in-migration	9.9	-41.5	-21.6	-19.4	-29.8
Canada					
Population increase	1491.1	1382.5	1303.8	1916.3	1720.5
Births	1754.8	1819.9	1872.2	1933.3	1934.8
Deaths	823.6	842.6	885.5	946.0	1029.0
Apparent net in-migration	559.9	405.2	317.1	929.0	814.7

Note: Apparent net in-migration is equal to immigration from other countries, minus emigration to other countries, plus in-migration from the rest of Canada, minus out-migration to the rest of Canada, plus Canadians returning from other countries, plus the net increase in non-permanent residents, plus the statistical discrepancy. (The statistical discrepancy is assumed to arise primarily from inaccuracies in the measurement of migration flows.)



Mortality rates have fallen too, and life expectancies have risen over the decades. That has had some effect on the rate of natural increase. However, the dominant factor by far has been the precipitous fall in fertility rates, and the consequent reduction in the numbers of children born annually. That is true throughout the Atlantic Region, as it is in all other parts of the country.

The other component of population change shown in Table 3 is what we term "apparent net in-migration". We use the word "apparent" because the statistical discrepancy is included—the difference between the sum of the measured components of change and the total five-year change, as calculated from census counts. The discrepancy is the result of either inaccuracies in the measurement of migration flows or differences in the degree of undercounting in successive censuses. (Births and deaths must be registered, by law, and hence are recorded with great accuracy.) The overall population changes shown in the table incorporate estimated adjustments for undercounting, and it seems likely that the statistical discrepancy should be interpreted as unrecorded additional net migration. That is the way we have treated it.

The table shows the Atlantic Region to have been a net loser in the combined exchange of migrants with other countries and other parts of Canada. Net in-migration was negative in each of the last four five-year periods, and over the past quarter-century the region's apparent net loss was about 102,000. That compares with a *gain* of about 3 million from migration for the country as a whole.

The losses have been distributed unevenly among the provinces. Newfoundland has been a consistent net loser from migration, while the other provinces have had mixed experiences. In the most recent period, 1991-96, the Atlantic Region appears to have lost almost 30,000 people through migration, a result of net outflows of 28,300 from Newfoundland and 5,400 from Nova Scotia, offset in part by net inflows of 1,800 into New Brunswick and 2,300 into Prince Edward Island. Caution is certainly warranted in interpreting the migration figures because of the measurement problems noted above. At a general level, though, it is clear that the Atlantic Region has lost substantial numbers of people through migration (while Canada has gained large numbers), and that the migration pattern for the region has been dominated by Newfoundland.

It would be a mistake to think of negative or positive net migration as indicating movements in one direction only. Regardless of the net balance, there are, in any period, large numbers of people moving in and large numbers moving out. That is especially true



14

of migration to and from the rest of Canada, as Table 4 makes clear. While some 904,000 people moved from the Atlantic Region to other parts of Canada during the quartercentury 1971-96, 841,000 moved in the opposite direction, based on the Statistics Canada estimates. In Newfoundland, where the net losses have been greatest, 300,000 people left the province for elsewhere in the country, while 227,000 moved in. As always, the migration estimates should be treated with care because of the possibilities for error. However, the fact that the gross flows of population into and out of a province or region are generally far in excess of the net flows is not in question. (Some of the migration into Newfoundland or any other province would represent people who had left in an earlier period and were now returning, and that would be true also for the region as a whole. Some of the movements into and out of individual provinces would be to and from other provinces within the region, although the largest fractions would be movements to and from the rest of Canada.)

Immigration from other countries is relatively unimportant as a source of population growth in the Atlantic Region, as Table 4 again makes clear. About 115,000 foreign immigrants came to the region between 1971 and 1996, 46 per cent of them going to Nova Scotia. In the most recent five-year period, about 28,000 foreign immigrants came to the Atlantic Region, and 61 per cent of those went to Nova Scotia. The 28,000 figure compares with a total of about 1.3 million for the country as a whole.

Let us explore the immigration issue a little further. Table 5 compares the percentage shares of the Canadian population in the region and its four provinces with the corresponding shares of Canadian immigration. The differences have consistently been large. Looking back over the past quarter-century, the proportion of immigrants to Canada who went to the Atlantic Region has ranged from less than two-tenths to a little over three-tenths of the proportion of the population living in the region. In 1991-96, the region accounted for 8.2 per cent of the Canadian population but received only 1.9 per cent of all immigrants. The share differences vary among the provinces, but the same general pattern holds in all four. In each, the immigration share has invariably been much smaller than the population share.

A simple calculation serves to bring out the implications. In 1971, the Atlantic Region had 9.5 per cent of the Canadian population. If, in the following 25 years, the region had received 9.5 per cent of Canadian immigration, some 445,000 immigrants would have taken up residence there, compared with an actual total of 115,000. (See Table 4.) Some of the additional immigrants would have died or left the region subsequently, but on the other hand there would have been more births to immigrant parents, thus augmenting the population. The calculation is rough, but taking it one step further, the addition of another



Table 4: Migration Into and Out of the Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1971-1976 to 1991-1996

	1971-76	1976-81	1981-86	1986-91	1991-96
		(thousands)		
Newfoundland					
Immigration from other countries	5.9	3.7	2.7	3.1	4.1
Emigration to other countries	2.4	1.8	2.3	1.4	1.4
In-migration from rest of Canada	61.4	43.4	37.4	47.7	36.8
Out-migration to rest of Canada	63.3	63.0	52.5	60.6	60.9
Prince Edward Island					
Immigration from other countries	1.5	1.2	0.9	1.0	1.0
Emigration to other countries	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.4
In-migration from rest of Canada	23.2	18.0	15.3	15.4	13.7
Out-migration to rest of Canada	19.5	18.6	14.9	15.6	11.6
Nova Scotia					
Immigration from other countries	12.8	8.6	6.5	8.0	16.9
Emigration to other countries	3.3	2.5	2.4	2.9	4.2
In-migration from rest of Canada	125.5	98.0	89.9	92.7	82.9
Out-migration to rest of Canada	114.1	105.8	82.3	93.8	88.4
New Brunswick					
Immigration from other countries	12.2	7.9	5.4	5.7	5.7
Emigration to other countries	6.0	4.6	4.7	4.4	4.7
In-migration from rest of Canada	109.7	73.8	64.0	67.5	57.7
Out-migration to rest of Canada	93.0	84.4	63.9	71.0	61.2
Atlantic Region					
Immigration from other countries	32.4	21.4	15.4	17.8	27.7
Emigration to other countries	12.3	9.4	9.8	8.9	10.7
In-migration from rest of Canada	235.7	162.5	148.3	161.1	133.6
Out-migration to rest of Canada	206.0	200.1	155.4	178.6	164.1
Canada					
Immigration from other countries	1038.6	739.6	629.7	992.2	1288.4
Emigration to other countries	358.1	278.2	277.6	212.5	230.5

Note: Immigration from other countries includes returning Canadians who emigrated from Canada at an earlier time. Migration of non-permanent residents into and out of Canada and the statistical discrepancy are not included in this table.



16

330,000 immigrants would have more than doubled the total population increase in the region—from an actual increase of 308,000 over the quarter-century to 638,000. Indeed, that may be a somewhat conservative estimate. If the additional natural increase associated with the larger number of immigrants exceeded any associated addition to outmigration, the population would have grown by even more. All of this is hypothetical, of course—a "what-if-history-had-been-different" calculation. Nevertheless, it serves to make the point that how immigrants have distributed themselves across the country (with concentrations in Ontario, Quebec, and British Columbia) has had important demographic (and hence economic) implications for Atlantic Canada.

Table 5: Shares of the Atlantic Provinces in Canadian Immigration Compared with Population Shares, 5-Year Intervals, 1971-1976 to 1991-1996

	1971-76	1976-81	1981-86	1986-91	1991-96
Newfoundland					
% of Canadian population	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.1	2.0
% of Canadian immigration	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3
Prince Edward Island					
% of Canadian population	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
% of Canadian immigration	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
Nova Scotia					
% of Canadian population	3.6	3.5	3.4	3.3	3.2
% of Canadian immigration	1.3	1.2	1.1	0.8	1.3
New Brunswick					
% of Canadian population	2.9	2.9	2.8	2.7	2.6
% of Canadian immigration	1.1	0.9	0.7	0.4	0.3
Atlantic Region					
% of Canadian population	9.4	9.3	9.0	8.6	8.2
% of Canadian immigration	3.0	2.8	2.2	1.5	1.9

Note: Population shares are based on average populations over the five-year intervals.



The Labour Force: Growth, Size, and Composition

Population changes have their most direct impact on the supply side of the economy through their effects on the labour force. Table 6 provides estimates of the labour force, its growth rates, and related information, based on data from Statistics Canada's monthly Labour Force Survey. The figures in the table are annual averages of the monthly data, or have been calculated from annual averages. They cover the period 1976 to 1996. (Changes in the survey make it difficult to construct consistent series going back further than 1976.) In accordance with the definitions used by Statistics Canada, the figures exclude full-time members of the armed forces, inmates of institutions, and persons living on Indian reserves. Those exclusions are of little importance for our purposes.

The Atlantic Region had 7.3 per cent of the Canadian labour force in 1996, compared with 8.0 per cent of the population. The difference between population and labour force shares was greatest in Newfoundland, but Nova Scotia and New Brunswick had slightly smaller shares also. Consistent with the share differences, 45.9 per cent of the regional population were in the labour force, compared with 50.8 per cent for Canada. In some degree that difference may reflect differing population age structures, but higher unemployment rates probably play an important role. (Average rates of unemployment have been a third to a half greater in the region than in Canada during the past 20 years, and about twice as high in Newfoundland.) A known and long-standing absence of jobs has an obvious disincentive effect on people who might otherwise look for work. In Newfoundland, only a third of the population was employed in 1996, compared with about 46 per cent for Canada.

The rates of growth of the labour force reflect the history of the birth rate. Between 1976 and 1981, when "baby boomers" were entering the world of work in large numbers, the region's labour force grew by 12.8 per cent—less than the all-Canada rate of 17.1 per cent, but a high rate of growth nevertheless. The years 1981-86 caught the tail end of the boom generation, and the Atlantic labour force increased by another 9.4 per cent. The growth rate then fell to 7.3 per cent in 1986-91, and to only 1.3 per cent in 1991-96. In Newfoundland, in 1991-96, the labour force registered a drop of 5.1 per cent, reflecting both a high net rate of out-migration and a decline in labour force participation in an economy characterized by severely limited employment opportunities.



Table 6: The Labour Force of the Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1976-1996

	1976	1981	1986	1991	1996
Labour force ('000)					
Newfoundland	184.2	213.7	228.3	248.1	235.5
Prince Edward Island	47.2	53.6	60.1	64.3	70.4
Nova Scotia	327.5	365.4	406.2	434.1	440.6
New Brunswick	262.6	293.6	318.5	340.3	354.1
Atlantic Region	821.5	926.3	1013.1	1086.8	1100.6
Canada	10530.0	12331.9	13377.7	14407.8	15145.4
Increase, last 5 years ('00)))				
Newfoundland		29.5	14.6	19.8	-12.6
Prince Edward Island		6.4	6.5	4.2	6.1
Nova Scotia		37.9	40.8	27.9	6.5
New Brunswick		31.0	24.9	21.8	13.8
Atlantic Region		104.8	86.8	73.7	13.8
Canada		1801.9	1045.8	1030.1	737.6
% Increase, last 5 years					
Newfoundland		16.0	6.8	8.7	-5.1
Prince Edward Island		13.6	12.1	7.0	9.5
Nova Scotia		11.6	11.2	6.9	1.5
New Brunswick		11.8	8.5	6.8	4.1
Atlantic Region		12.8	9.4	7.3	1.3
Canada		17.1	8.5	7.7	5.1
Labour force as % of pop	oulation				
Newfoundland	32.7	37.1	39.5	42.8	41.7
Prince Edward Island	39.7	43.2	46.6	49.1	51.7
Nova Scotia	39.1	42.7	45.5	47.3	47.3
New Brunswick	38.0	41.4	43.8	45.5	46.2
Atlantic Region	37.2	40.9	43.5	45.7	45.9
Canada	44.8	49.5	51.1	51.2	50.8
Employed labour force as	s % of population				
Newfoundland	28.4	31.9	31.9	34.9	33.6
Prince Edward Island	35.9	38.3	40.4	40.8	44.1
Nova Scotia	35.4	38.3	39.6	41.6	41.4
New Brunswick	33.8	36.7	37.5	39.7	40.8
Atlantic Region	33.2	36.2	37.1	39.3	39.5
Canada	41.6	45.8	46.2	45.9	45.8

Note: The labour force figures are annual averages. Following the definition in the Statistics Canada Labour Force Survey, they exclude full-time members of the armed forces, inmates of institutions, and persons living on Indian reserves.



The age composition of the labour force has reflected the historical pattern of births too, as shown by Table 7. In 1976, 29.7 per cent of all persons in the Atlantic Region's labour force were under the age of 25. By 1996, with smaller numbers of new entrants, the percentage had fallen to 17.3. The latter figure was still above the national percentage of 16.1. Indeed, one labour force characteristic of note throughout the region has been the higher proportions of young people. In every one of the four provinces, and in every year of the period covered by Table 7, the percentage of the labour force under 25 years of age was well above the all-Canada average.

One of the most significant postwar social and economic developments in Canada, as in the United States and other countries, has been the increased labour force participation of women. The trend has been persistent during the past four or five decades. Table 7 covers only the last 20 years, but the trend is clearly evident in the Atlantic Region for that period. The proportion of women rose in every province of the region in every five-year period shown in the table. For the region as a whole, the proportion in 1996—45.2 per cent—was exactly equal to the national average. The percentage varied a little from province to province—somewhat lower in Newfoundland, somewhat higher in Prince Edward Island—but the most striking features are the broad similarity of the percentages, and the roughly similar trends.

The rates of labour force participation are generally lower in the Atlantic Region than in the country as a whole, as shown by Table 8. That is true of men and women in all age groups. It is also true of three of the four provinces: with the notable exception of Prince Edward Island, the provincial rates fell short of the national rates in all age categories in 1996. The rates in Newfoundland have been the lowest by far: 29.5 per cent and 27.3 per cent for men and women under 20 years of age in 1996, compared with 48.1 and 46.6 per cent for the nation; 63.6 and 56.1 per cent for men and women 20 to 24, compared with 78.8 and 72.1. Even in the "prime" working ages, 25 to 54, the rates were far below the national ones. The low Newfoundland rates probably reflect in large measure the depressed state of the labour market in that province. The figures in Table 8 are annual averages. If one looks at seasonal patterns of participation, it is clear that the biggest gaps between provincial and national rates occur in the winter months, when opportunities for employment are particularly scarce. However, the rates are lower at other times too, and whatever the seasonal pattern, the net effect is that the average labour force over the course of a year is well below its potential level.



20 Table 7: Percentages of the Labour Force Under 25 Years of Age and 55 and Over, and the Percentage of Women in the Labour Force, Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1976-1996

-	1976	1981	1986	1991	1996
0/ of lobour force under "					
% of tabout force under .	25	00.1			
Newfoundland	31.2	28.1	23.3	20.9	17.1
Prince Edward Island	30.1	27.2	24.3	20.1	18.9
Nova Scotia	28.5	27.3	24.3	19.5	17.0
New Brunswick	30.0	27.3	23.4	19.7	17.4
Atlantic Region	29.7	27.5	23.8	19.9	17.3
Canada	27.3	26.5	22.6	18.3	16.1
% of labour force 55 and	over				
Newfoundland	9.0	8.0	7.3	6.3	6.6
Prince Edward Island	14.2	11.6	10.6	10.4	9.7
Nova Scotia	12.9	10.2	8.9	8.2	8.4
New Brunswick	11.4	10.4	8.9	8.0	8.1
Atlantic Region	11.6	9.8	8.6	7.8	8.0
Canada	11.5	10.9	10.2	9.5	9.4
Women as % of total lab	our force				
Newfoundland	31.8	36.4	40.4	43.4	43.7
Prince Edward Island	37.5	40.9	43.6	45.9	46.4
Nova Scotia	36.6	40.7	42.5	44.9	45.7
New Brunswick	36.1	39.6	42.1	44.3	45.4
Atlantic Region	35.4	39.4	42.0	44.4	45.2
Canada	37.4	40.6	42.8	44.7	45.2



Table 8: Annual Average Labour Force Participation Rates of Men and Women, by Age Group, Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1976-1996

•			Men				V	Vomen		
-	1976	1981	1986	1991	1996	1976	1981	1986	1991	1996
					(percent	tages)				
Ages 15-19										
Newfoundland	36.9	41.3	30.4	33.7	29.5	32.9	34.0	27.2	31.7	27.3
Prince Edward Island	60.3	55.4	52.7	53.8	57.1	46.0	46.0	49.1	47.9	51.0
Nova Scotia	47.5	50.5	45.8	48.4	42.4	40.1	48.1	47.0	48.9	41.1
New Brunswick	45.9	46.9	42.4	45.2	42.8	38.5	43.9	41.2	44.9	42.2
Atlantic Region	44.8	47.1	40.7	43.4	40.0	38.0	42.8	39.6	42.7	38.4
Canada	52.6	58.4	56.1	55.9	48.1	47.2	53.4	53.1	54.0	46.6
Ages 20-24										
Newfoundland	79.9	75.2	71.0	69.3	63.6	52.6	61.1	63.3	65.6	56.1
Prince Edward Island	82.0	82.7	81.4	85.4	84.0	68.0	70.4	74.1	77.1	75.5
Nova Scotia	85.3	82.7	83.1	79.9	77.4	64.5	69.3	76.2	73.9	72.0
New Brunswick	83.6	78.5	79.5	75.6	72.4	60.1	65.9	68.7	67.7	68.6
Atlantic Region	83.2	79.4	78.8	75.9	72.6	60.1	66.2	70.5	69.9	67.0
Canada	85.2	86.6	84.8	81.5	78.8	68.2	73.9	77.2	75.9	72.1
Ages 25-54										
Newfoundland	85.5	86.3	84.3	82.5	76.6	35.2	46.5	56.5	64.0	61.6
Prince Edward Island	90.9	91.1	90.8	89.7	90.4	49.5	61.4	70.5	79.0	81.8
Nova Scotia	91.4	91.4	91.7	90.2	86.6	46.5	56.9	64.0	71.9	72.5
New Brunswick	88.3	88.6	87.0	85.5	84.7	45.7	54.5	62.5	68.7	70.8
Atlantic Region	88.9	89.2	88.3	86.7	83.8	43.7	53.8	62.1	69.4	69.9
Canada	94.7	94.8	93.8	92.5	91.0	52.3	63.2	70.4	76.0	76.4
Ages 55 and over										
Newfoundland	36.1	33.1	29.6	24.5	22.2	8.6	9.0	8.9	9.2	9.0
Prince Edward Island	43.9	37.2	37.3	35.2	32.8	16.8	15.3	14.6	16.9	17.2
Nova Scotia	42.5	34.5	31.3	28.6	27.3	15.1	12.9	11.9	12.1	12.3
New Brunswick	39.6	36.8	31.6	28.0	25.6	14.2	13.6	12.4	11.5	13.0
Atlantic Region	40.3	35.1	31.4	27.9	25.9	13.6	12.5	11.6	11.6	12.1
Canada	47.9	45.7	40.8	36.0	32.7	17.7	18.4	17.3	16.9	16.8

Note: A participation rate is the percentage of the eligible population that is in the labour force in a given age group. Following the definitions in the Statistics Canada Labour Force Survey, both the labour force and the eligible population exclude full-time members of the armed forces, inmates of institutions, and persons living on Indian reserves. (The population definition differs from the one used in Table 6, where the labour force and employed labour force are expressed as percentages of the *total* population, all ages combined, with no exclusions.)



The Future Population

Now let us look into the crystal ball. We begin with a projection of the population, based on a computer model that we have developed, and applied in other contexts (Denton, Feaver, and Spencer, 1994, 1997). Taking a long view, we project the population all the way to the year 2036, at five-year intervals. Like other demographic or economic projections, this one will, of course, be wrong. No one can know exactly what the population will be at any future date, and chances are that the further into the future we look, the less accurate will be the results. Nevertheless, much of what is going to happen can, in fact, be predicted rather well, at least in broad outline. We can say with absolute certainty that the 40-yearolds of today will be 50 years of age in 10 years (those who do not die), and the 50-year-olds will be 60. We cannot know exactly what future mortality rates will be at different ages, but the rates change rather slowly, and differences in the rates will have rather a small effect on the projection. We cannot know just what fertility rates will be in the future, either. Another baby boom does not have zero probability, but the rates have been rather stable for many years now, and a large increase seems highly unlikely from today's perspective. In our basic projection—Projection A—we assume that current fertility levels will persist, and that mortality rates will continue to decline, although at a somewhat slower rate than in the past quarter-century.

Migration is a more difficult matter. Barring a major shift in the locational patterns of immigrants, variations in Canadian immigration levels are unlikely to have much effect on the population of Atlantic Canada. (Our assumption for projection purposes is that Canadian immigration will continue at roughly the level of recent years, and that the proportionate distribution of new immigrants among the provinces will remain the same.) However, variations in migration between the region and other parts of Canada could have a greater effect. What we have done is to assume, for purposes of Projection A, that net migration of that kind will change gradually from the average annual rate in the period 1992-97 to a rate of zero by 2006—that by 2006 the numbers moving into each of the four provinces will exactly balance the numbers moving out. That assumption has significant implications for Newfoundland, in particular, and we explore later the consequences of assuming instead that the out-migration of recent years will continue unabated. In order to focus mainly on a single projection, though, we have made the gradual tapering-off of net migration our basic assumption, and we think that a reasonable choice. The recent rates of loss of population from Newfoundland, especially, do not seem sustainable in the long run.



The Projection A population figures are presented in Table 9 for the region, its individual provinces, and Canada. The Canadian population is seen to increase every five years over the whole of the 40-year projection period, but the rate of increase is seen to decline markedly. Between 1991 and 1996, the population of Canada increased by 6.1 per cent. In spite of an assumed relatively high level of foreign immigration, it is projected to increase by only 5.7 per cent between 1996 and 2001, and by 2031-36 by a mere 2.0 per cent. The long-run consequences of continuing low fertility levels are clearly apparent in the projection for Canada.

They are apparent too in the regional and provincial projections. Under the assumptions we have made, the population of Atlantic Canada will continue to grow in each five-year period for the next 20 years. However, the rates of growth will be far below the Canadian rates, and after 2016 they will be replaced by decreases: from 2016 to 2036, the population of the region is projected to decline by about 5 per cent. With rates of increase consistently below the Canadian rates, and eventually giving way to declines, the share of the Atlantic Region in the national population will fall over the 40-year projection period, just as it has over the past 40 or 50 years. The region accounted for 8.0 per cent of the Canadian population in 1996; by 2016 the share is projected to fall to 6.8 per cent, and by 2036 to 5.8 per cent. On that basis, four decades from now the Atlantic Region's population share will be only about half of what it was when Newfoundland came into the confederation.

A pattern of declining growth rates is common to all four provinces, although the rates themselves vary considerably. In recent years Newfoundland has had by far the lowest fertility rates in the region (indeed, in the country). In spite of the assumption that its losses from net out-migration will diminish, and disappear entirely within a decade, its population is projected to decrease continuously over the 40-year projection period. On the other hand, Prince Edward Island and Nova Scotia are projected to increase in population until near the end of the projection period. In New Brunswick, the projected decreases begin in 2011-16.

The changes in Newfoundland are especially striking. The projected figure of about 462,000 implies a population in 2036 of roughly the same size as in 1960, and some 20 per cent below the level of the early 1990s. When Newfoundland became part of Canada, it accounted for about 2.6 per cent of the national total; by 2036 its share would be only 1.1 per cent.



Table 9: The Future Population of th	ne Atlantic Provinces and Canada,
5-Year Intervals, 1996	-2036: Projection A

	1996	2001	2006	2011	2016	2021	2026	2031	2036
Population ('000)		E 14 1	50(0		500.4	E00 7	50(0	10/ 4	
Newfoundland	565.0	541.4	536.0	535.0	530.1	520.7	506.0	486.1	461.6
Prince Edward Island	136.2		145.1	148.0	150.4	10157	152.5	152.2	1002 F
Nova Scolla Now Prupowick	930.7 766 0	952.7 772.6	9/3.U ר סרר	991.3 701.4	1000.0	1015.0	1018.4	1014.0 745.4	1003.5
Atlantic Pogion	700.0 2207.0	772.0 2707.9	1/0./ 0/20.0	701.0 2455.0	700.3 2766.9	774.3 2762 5	702.7 2720.6	740.4	7220 0
Canada	29840.6	31554.5	33168.0	34692.3	36136.1	37471.1	38647.1	39624.7	40398.3
Increase, last 5 years	('000)								
Newfoundland	-15.3	-23.6	-5.4	-1.0	-4.9	-9.4	-14.7	-19.9	-24.5
Prince Edward Island	5.4	4.9	4.0	2.9	2.4	1.5	0.6	-0.3	-1.1
Nova Scotia	12.8	22.0	20.3	18.3	14.7	9.6	2.8	-4.4	-10.5
New Brunswick	17.5	6.6	6.1	2.9	-1.3	-6.0	-11.6	-17.3	-22.7
Atlantic Region	20.3	9.9	25.0	23.1	10.9	-4.3	-22.9	-41.9	-58.8
Canada	1720.5	1713.9	1613.5	1524.3	1443.8	1335.0	1176.0	977.6	773.6
% Increase, last 5 ye	ars								•
Newfoundland	-2.6	-4.2	-1.0	-0.2	-0.9	-1.6	-2.8	-3.9	-5.0
Prince Edward Island	4.1	3.6	2.8	2.0	1.6	1.2	0.4	-0.2	-0.7
Nova Scotia	1.4	2.4	2.1	1.9	1.5	1.1	0.3	-0.4	-1.0
New Brunswick	2.3	0.9	0.8	0.4	-0.2	-0.8 0.0	-1.5	-2.3	-3.U
Allanilic Region	0.9	0.4 5.7	I.U Б 1	0.9	0.4 1 0	-U.Z 5 1	-0.9	-1./ 2.5	-2.5
Carlaua	0.1	5.7	0.1	4.0	4.Z	0.1	J. I	2.0	2.0
% of Region		0.0 5			04.5				10.7
Newfoundland	23.6	22.5	22.0	21.8	21.5	21.1	20.7	20.3	19.7
Prince Edward Island	5.7	5.9	6.0	6.0	6. I	6.2	6.3	6.3	6.5
Nova Scotla	38.8 21.0	39.0	40.0	40.4	40.8	41.Z	41./	42.3 21.1	42.9
Atlantic Degion	31.9 100.0	32.1 100.0	32.U 100.0	31.0 100.0	31.0 100.0	31.4 100.0	31.3 100.0	31.1 100.0	30.9 100.0
Allalillic Region	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
% of Canada									
Newfoundland	1.9	1.7	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.1
Prince Edward Island	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
Nova Scotia	3.1	3.0	2.9	2.9	2.8	2.7	2.6	2.6	2.5
New Brunswick	2.6	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.2	2.1	2.0	1.9	1.8
Atlantic Region	8.0	7.6	7.3	7.1	6.8	6.6	6.3	6.1	5.8

Note: See text for assumptions underlying the projection.



Indexes of population size (with 1996 set equal to 100.0) are shown in Figure 1 for each of the provinces, for the region as a whole, and for Canada. Historical and projected values are plotted at five-year intervals for the period 1951 through 2036. The use of indexes facilitates comparisons across the various jurisdictions over this 85-year period, and many of the points made earlier stand out clearly. For example, the relative flatness of the plot for the Atlantic Region reflects its slower population growth as compared to that of Canada, both before 1996 and more especially in the projection period. Also, the continued population growth for Canada as a whole stands in contrast to the projected decline in the Atlantic Region after 2016. Within the region, Newfoundland differs notably from the other provinces, in both its relatively high rate of population growth in the first two decades, and the early reversal of that growth, and onset of decline, after 1991.



Figure 1: Population Indexes, Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 1951-2036 (1996=100.0)

Note: Indexes are based on the actual population totals reported in Table 1 (for 1951-1996) and the projected totals in Table 9 (for 2001-2036).



26

Declining rates of growth across the country will be accompanied by marked shifts in age distribution, as shown in Table 10. For Canada, the proportion of the population 65 years of age and over is projected to double in the next 40 years. In 1996 it was 12.2 per cent; it is projected to be 16.5 per cent by 2016, and 24.5 per cent by 2036. To put it differently, about one in every six Canadians will be 65 or older within 20 years, and one in four within 40 years. In the Atlantic Region, the prospective shift towards the older ages is even more pronounced—from 12.2 per cent aged 65 and over in 1996 to 29.4 per cent (three out of 10) in 2036, for the region as a whole, and from 10.6 per cent to 31.2 per cent for Newfoundland. Accompanying the increases in the proportions of older people will be decreases at the young end of the age spectrum (barring some unforeseen major turn-around in fertility rates). Again, that is a national trend that is shared by the Atlantic Provinces. From 26.6 per cent of the regional population in 1996, the percentage under 20 years of age is projected to fall to 16.6 over the next 40 years; in Newfoundland, the percentage is projected to drop by roughly half—from 27.3 to 13.7.

Table 10: Projected Percentages of the Population
Under 20 Years of Age and 65 and Over, Atlantic Provinces
and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1996-2036: Projection A

	1996	2001	2006	2011	2016	2021	2026	2031	2036
% of population und	er 20								
Newfoundland	27.3	23.9	21.1	19.1	17.7	16.6	15.5	14.5	13.7
Prince Edward Island	28.6	27.1	25.6	24.1	23.2	22.3	21.5	20.8	20.2
Nova Scotia	26.1	24.6	22.9	21.2	20.1	19.4	18.8	18.3	17.7
New Brunswick	26.2	24.2	22.3	20.7	19.4	18.4	17.5	16.8	16.2
Atlantic Region	26.6	24.4	22.5	20.8	19.6	18.7	17.9	17.2	16.6
Canada	26.7	25.5	24.2	22.9	21.9	21.4	21.0	20.5	20.1
% of population 65 a	nd over								
Newfoundland	10.6	11.6	12.6	14.5	17.9	21.7	25.3	28.6	31.2
Prince Edward Island	13.0	13.3	13.7	14.9	17.4	19.6	22.2	24.4	25.9
Nova Scotia	12.8	13.3	14.0	15.4	18.0	20.7	23.8	26.5	28.0
New Brunswick	12.6	13.3	14.2	15.8	18.9	22.2	25.7	28.9	31.0
Atlantic Region	12.2	12.9	13.7	15.3	18.2	21.3	24.6	27.5	29.4
Canada	12.2	12.7	13.3	14.5	16.5	18.7	21.2	23.4	24.5



Further information about changes in age structure is provided in Figure 2, which shows population "pyramids" for each of the provinces, for the region, and for Canada, at 20-year intervals from 1956 through to 2036. The horizontal bars show the percentages of the total population in each age group, with the youngest (ages 0 to 4) at the base and the oldest (ages 90 and over) at the top. (Except for the 90 and over group, all bars refer to five-year age groups.) Males are shown on the left side of the vertical line, females on the right.

Perhaps the most obvious features of the pyramids are (a) that they are generally similar in shape in the different areas, and (b) that their shapes change markedly over time. All the 1956 pyramids have broad bases, reflecting the baby boom that was then under way throughout Canada. The subsequent narrowing of the bases in 1976, and again in 1996, reflects the baby bust. By 1996, as a close approximation, members of the baby boom generation were between the ages of 30 and 50, and their relatively large numbers are evident in the bulges in the 1996 pyramids for the age groups 30-34 through 45-49. With the assumptions underlying the projections, the bases of the pyramids continue to diminish, so that by 2016, and more especially 2036, the populations become concentrated in the older age groups.

While the changes in the shapes of the pyramids are broadly similar from one area to another, there are important differences that reflect what has happened and what is in prospect. A striking indication of the relatively rapid aging of the population in the region as a whole is evident from comparisons of the Atlantic Region pyramids with those for Canada. As can be seen, the region had relatively high proportions in the youngest age groups in 1956 and 1976. By 2016, however, it is projected that the age groups 40-44 through 70-74 will be proportionately larger in the region than in Canada as a whole, and that by 2036 the proportions in all of the age groups 50-54 and older will be larger than the corresponding all-Canada proportions.

Another notable difference is the absence of the baby boom "echo" in the Atlantic Region. In 1996, the all-Canada age groups 5-9 and 10-14 (children of the baby boomers) were larger than the age group 15-19, whereas in the Atlantic Region the reverse was true. Reductions in the size of the school age population in the Atlantic Region have obvious implications for the provision of educational services, just as the increases in the older population have implications for the health care system and social security.

The pattern of change in age distribution is quite similar in New Brunswick and Nova Scotia (the provinces with the largest populations) to that of the region as a whole. However, the situation is much different in Newfoundland. That province had an especially high proportion of young people in 1956 and 1976, and is projected to have an especially high proportion of middle-aged people by 2016, and middle-aged and older people by 2036. The situation is different also in Prince Edward Island, which is projected to have an increasingly large proportion of young people relative to the rest of the region. Indeed, the projected age distribution of PEI's population looks very much like the all-Canada one.



Figure 2: Population Age Pyramids, Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 1956-2036



Note: The horizontal bars on each side of the vertical lines represent, for males and females, the percentages of the total population in each five-year age group from 0-4 to 85-89 and in the group 90 and over. The pyramids for 1956, 1976, and 1996 are based on Statistics Canada data; those for 2016 and 2036 relate to Projection A by the authors. (See the text for assumptions underlying the projection.)











The Future Labour Force

A projection of the labour force is provided in Table 11. It is based on population Projection A, coupled with assumptions about participation rates for men and women in different age groups. The participation rates we have assumed take account of recent trends and our judgments as to likely modifications of the trends. Different assumptions would alter the labour force calculations, but only to a limited extent. Changes in the size and age distribution of the population will be the major determinant of the future labour force.

The rates of growth of the labour force have been lower in the Atlantic Provinces than in Canada as a whole in the past five years, with the notable exception (once again) of Prince Edward Island. Newfoundland is already experiencing negative growth and, according to the projections, will be joined by New Brunswick by 2006-11. By 2011-16 all four provinces will have started to register declines. If relatively high rates of foreign immigration continue (our assumption, but of course not a certainty), the Canadian labour force will be roughly constant after 2016, whereas all of the Atlantic Provinces will experience decreases. The Atlantic Region's share of the national labour force, like that of the national population, will continue to fall.



Table 11: The Future Labour Force of the Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 5-Year Intervals, 1996-2036

	1996	2001	2006	2011	2016	2021	2026	2031	2036
	-								
Labour force ('000)									
Newfoundland	235.5	229.8	227.3	222.6	211.1	197.3	183.0	167.8	153.9
Prince Edward Island	70.4	74.0	76.2	77.1	76.0	74.4	72.7	70.8	69.0
Nova Scotia	440.6	454.0	463.9	467.5	457.4	443.5	429.6	415.8	405.3
New Brunswick	354.1	361.4	362.7	358.3	343.6	325.8	308.1	289.2	273.0
Atlantic Region	1100.6	1119.2	1130.1	1125.5	1088.2	1040.9	993.4	943.5	901.2
Canada	15145.4	16099.6	16950.2	17617.8	17856.9	17935.3	17993.0	18051.1	18186.6
Increase last 5 years	s ('000)								
Newfoundland	-12.6	-5.7	-2.5	-4.7	-11.4	-13.8	-14.3	-15.2	-13.8
Prince Edward Island	6.1	3.6	2.2	0.9	-1.1	-1.6	-1.6	-1.9	-1.8
Nova Scotia	6.5	13.4	9.9	3.6	-10.1	-13.9	-13.8	-13.8	-10.5
New Brunswick	13.8	7.3	1.3	-4.4	-14.7	-17.9	-17.7	-18.9	-16.2
Atlantic Region	13.8	18.6	10.9	-4.6	-37.3	-47.3	-47.5	-49.9	-42.4
Canada	737.6	954.2	850.6	667.6	239.1	78.4	57.8	58.1	135.5
% Increase, last 5 ve	Pars								
Newfoundland	-5.1	-2.4	-1.1	-2.1	-5.1	-6.1	-7.3	-8.3	-8.2
Prince Edward Island	9.5	5.1	3.0	1.2	-1.4	-2.7	-2.2	-2.7	-2.6
Nova Scotia	1.5	3.1	2.2	0.8	-2.2	-3.4	-3.1	-3.2	-2.5
New Brunswick	4.1	2.1	0.4	-1.2	-4.1	-5.6	-5.4	-6.1	-5.6
Atlantic Region	1.3	1.7	1.0	-0.4	-3.3	-4.7	-4.6	-5.0	-4.5
Canada	5.1	6.3	5.3	3.9	1.4	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.8
Labour force as % of	Enonulation								
Labour Torce as 70 or Nowfoundland	11 7	12.1	12 /	/1.6	30.8	27.0	36.2	315	33.3
Drinco Edward Island	41.7 51.7	42.4 50 /	42.4 52.5	41.0 52.1	57.0 50.5	J1.7 /0.0	JU.∠ 17 7	16 F	33.5 15 7
Maya Scotia	UL.7 17-2	02.4 17 7	02.0 7 7	02.1 17 0	00.0 /E E	47.U 107	47.7 10.0	40.0	40.7
NOVA SLULIA	47.J 16.D	47.7 76.0	41.1	47.Z 15.0	40.0 44 0	43.7 10 1	4Z.Z 10.1	41.U 20 0	40.4 27.0
NEW DIVIISWICK	40.∠ 4⊑.0	40.0 14 E	40.0 44 E	40.0 4E 0	44.U 11 1	4Z.1 40.0	40.4 40.7	20.0 20.4	37.0 20 E
Alianilic Keyion	40.7 50.0	40.0 51.0	40.0 51.1	40.0 50.0	44.1 40.4	4Z.J 17 0	4U. / 16. 6	37.4 15.6	30.0 45 0
Udildud	0.UC	0.10	01.IC	0.0C	49.4	47.9	40.0	40.0	45.0

Note: The projected labour force is based on population Projection A, combined with projected participation rates.



Age Structure and Dependency Relations

The population and labour force projections can be used to calculate measures of "dependency"—of the total number of "mouths to feed" in relation to the number of "providers", so to speak. Table 12 and Figure 3 show two types of dependency measures. The first is the ratio of the total population to the number of people aged 20 to 64, the latter represents a rough approximation to the population of working age. The second measure is the ratio of the total population to the number of people actually in the labour force. Historical values are shown in the table for comparison with the projected ones. As crude as they are, the two measures of dependency serve to indicate, in a rough way, the "burden" of a given population age structure for the economy.

Table 12: Dependency Ratios, Historical and Projected, Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 10-Year Intervals, 1956-2036

	1956	1966	1976	1986	1996	2006	2016	2026	2036
Population-based ratio	S								
Newfoundland	2.21	2.32	2.04	1.80	1.61	1.51	1.55	1.69	1.82
Prince Edward Island	2.14	2.24	2.00	1.79	1.71	1.65	1.68	1.78	1.86
Nova Scotia	2.01	2.09	1.89	1.70	1.64	1.59	1.62	1.74	1.84
New Brunswick	2.12	2.20	1.92	1.72	1.63	1.57	1.62	1.76	1.89
Atlantic Region	2.10	2.18	1.94	1.73	1.63	1.57	1.61	1.74	1.85
Canada	1.89	1.98	1.79	1.64	1.64	1.60	1.62	1.73	1.80
Labour-force-based rat	tios								
Newfoundland			3.06	2.53	2.40	2.36	2.51	2.77	3.00
Prince Edward Island			2.52	2.14	1.93	1.90	1.98	2.10	2.19
Nova Scotia			2.55	2.20	2.11	2.10	2.20	2.37	2.48
New Brunswick			2.63	2.28	2.16	2.15	2.27	2.48	2.65
Atlantic Region			2.69	2.30	2.18	2.15	2.27	2.46	2.60
Canada			2.23	1.96	1.97	1.96	2.02	2.15	2.22

Note: The ratios for 2006 to 2036 are calculated using population Projection A. A population-based dependency ratio is defined as the ratio of the total population to the population aged 20 to 64. A labour-force-based ratio is defined as the ratio of the total population to the total labour force.







Note: See Table 12.



The population-based ratios go back to 1956 in Table 12, and to 1951 in Figure 3. The ratios rose between 1951 and 1966, reflecting the high fertility levels and large numbers of children born in that period. They then fell, as fertility rates dropped sharply, and as the baby boomers came of working age and thus changed their status from "dependents" to "providers". The decline in the ratios has continued for three decades, and is projected to continue for another decade. As the baby boom generation moves into old age, though, the ratios will once again start to increase. The increase will begin in about the second decade of the next century, and will continue to the end of the projection period. While the ratios differ between the Atlantic Region and Canada as a whole, and among the four provinces of the region, the most striking feature of the top parts of Table 12 and Figure 3 is the consistency of the patterns. The directions of change are the same in every province and at the national level.

The "dependency burden", as measured by the population-based ratio, is destined to rise, then, according to the projections. However, it is worth noting that even by 2036 the ratio will not be as high as it was in 1956 and 1966, in Canada or in any of the Atlantic Provinces. The composition of the "dependent" population will be different in 2036 from what it was in those earlier times, of course; it will be largely an old rather than a child population. Overall, though, the ratio of the total population to the population of working age will fall short of the levels attained during the 1950s and 1960s.

The labour-force-based ratios in the lower parts of Table 12 and Figure 3 are higher than the population-based ones but their patterns of change are generally the same. They can be calculated back only to 1976, thus missing the peak levels of the 1950s and 1960s. However, even using 1976 as a standard, the projected ratios will be roughly what they were then by the year 2036, and in some cases they will be lower.

As we have said, the dependency ratios are but crude indicators of the "burden" of the age structure. They do suggest, though, that the problems will lie not so much with the overall economic burden as with the need to reallocate public and private expenditure to accommodate the shift from a younger to an older population. Relatively less will need to be directed to education, for example, and more to health care and pensions. But in the aggregate, reallocation rather than total cost would seem to be the major concern for the future.



CHANGING THE PROJECTION ASSUMPTIONS

It is of interest to see how the population projections would be affected by changing some of the basic assumptions. Three alternative projections are offered in Table 13, together with the original one, Projection A. Projection B assumes that recent rates of net migration to and from the rest of Canada will be maintained—specifically, that the annual rate in each of the four provinces will be equal to its 1992-97 average. Projection C assumes that mortality rates will decline more rapidly than in Projection A. Life expectancy at birth in A increases at the national level by 5.1 years between 1996 and 2036 for men, and by 3.8 years for women; in C, with lower mortality rates, the increases are 6.7 and 5.6 years. Mortality rates in each of the four Atlantic Provinces have been modified in a manner commensurate with the changes in the national rates. Finally, Projection D assumes a sharp upward movement of fertility rates—a rise of 50 per cent over the decade 1996 to 2006, with the rates remaining at the higher levels thereafter. We hasten to add that we do not expect such an increase in fertility; the higher rates would still be well below the levels of the 1950s and earlier 1960s, but there is nothing to suggest that an increase of the assumed magnitude is likely. Nor do we expect the rates of migration in Projection B actually to hold over the next four decades. (The alternative assumptions about mortality rates underlying Projection C are more plausible, although our preferred choice is those of A.) Our sole purpose in displaying the alternative projections in Table 13 is to explore the sensitivity of the projections to changes in basic assumptions-to see how "robust" are the conclusions we have drawn above. In the interest of brevity, we show the alternative projections only at 20-year intervals in the table.

How much difference do the changes in assumptions make? The changes in migration assumptions have large effects on the population totals in the Atlantic Provinces, as seen by a comparison of Projection B with Projection A. The Prince Edward Island population is increased while the populations of the other three provinces are reduced. In A the population of Newfoundland is projected to fall to about 462,000 by the year 2036; in B it is projected to fall to 216,000. Again, we do not think the assumption underlying B is credible, but the comparison serves to highlight the critical importance of migration to the demographic future of Newfoundland, and more generally the Atlantic Region.



Table 13: The Future Population and Its Age Distribution, Atlantic Provinces and Canada, 20-Year Intervals, 1996-2036: Four Alternative Projections

	Popu	lation ('C)00)	0	% under	20	% 6	5 and ov	er
-	1996	2016	2036	1996	2016	2036	1996	2016	2036
	_								
Projection A									
Newfoundland	565.0	530.1	461.6	27.3	17.7	13.7	10.6	17.9	31.2
Prince Edward Island	136.2	150.4	151.1	28.6	23.2	20.2	13.0	17.4	25.9
Nova Scotia	930.7	1006.0	1003.5	26.1	20.1	17.7	12.8	18.0	28.0
New Brunswick	766.0	780.3	722.7	26.2	19.4	16.2	12.6	18.9	31.0
Atlantic Region	2397.9	2466.8	2338.9	26.6	19.6	16.6	12.2	18.2	29.4
Canada	29840.6	36136.1	40398.3	26.7	21.9	20.1	12.2	16.5	24.5
Projection B									
Newfoundland	565.0	429.1	215.5	27.3	15.4	2.6	10.6	21.5	60.3
Prince Edward Island	136.2	157.0	168.5	28.6	23.5	20.9	13.0	16.8	24.0
Nova Scotia	930.7	986.5	953.2	26.1	19.9	17.3	12.8	18.3	29.1
New Brunswick	766.0	764.2	681.4	26.2	19.2	15.7	12.6	19.2	32.5
Atlantic Region	2397.9	2336.8	2018.6	26.6	19.1	15.5	12.2	19.1	33.2
Canada	29840.6	36136.1	40398.3	26.7	21.9	20.1	12.2	16.5	24.5
Projection C									
Newfoundland	565 0	521.8	168.3	27.2	17.6	13.6	10.6	10 1	32.0
Drinco Edward Island	136.2	151.0	400.J 152.Q	27.3	17.0 22.1	10.0 10.0	10.0 13.0	10.1	32.0 27.0
Nova Scotia	030.2	1010.7	1022.2	20.0	20.0	17.0	12.0	17.0	27.0
Now Brunswick	750.7	783.8	726 5	20.1	20.0	17.4	12.0	10.5	27.1 32.1
Atlantic Region	2307.0	2177 A	2380.0	20.2	17.5 10 5	16.2	12.0	12.1	30.1
Canada	29840.6	36282.6	41018.7	26.7	21.9	19.9	12.2	16.7	25.4
Projection D									
Newfoundland	565.0	564.6	541.9	27.3	22.7	20.2	10.6	16.8	26.6
Prince Edward Island	136.2	163.5	186.9	28.6	29.4	28.5	13.0	16.0	21.0
Nova Scotia	930.7	1081.4	1202.8	26.1	25.7	25.2	12.8	16.7	23.3
New Brunswick	766.0	838.1	869.9	26.2	25.0	23.9	12.6	17.6	25.8
Atlantic Region	2397.9	2647.6	2801.5	26.6	25.1	24.0	12.2	17.0	24.6
Canada	29840.6	39070.6	48652.0	26.7	27.8	27.8	12.2	15.3	20.3

Note: Projection A is the basic projection; B, C, and D incorporate particular departures from the assumptions underlying A. Projection B assumes continuation of 1992-97 migration patterns throughout the projection period. C assumes greater declines in mortality rates and D assumes a rise in fertility rates. See text for additional detail.



The sharply reduced Newfoundland population in Projection B is accompanied by a much higher proportion of elderly people: in A the proportion 65 and over is projected to be about 31 per cent by 2036; in B it is projected to be 60 per cent, reflecting the disproportionately large losses of younger people associated with out-migration. There are changes in the proportion of elderly people in the other provinces too, although they are of a much smaller order than in Newfoundland.

What about mortality: do changes in the assumptions about death rates have much effect? The answer is no. The effects are rather minor, even after 40 years, as a comparison of Projections C and A makes clear. That conclusion applies to the total population, and it applies also to its age distribution. Contrary to popular belief, lower mortality rates and greater life expectancies would have little consequence for the collective aging process, as represented by the increased percentage of population 65 and over.

Increases in fertility rates would have more of an effect, as evidenced by Projection D. They would produce a larger population in each province, of course, and they would raise the percentage of young people and lower the percentage of old. But the percentage old would still double in the Atlantic Region as a whole over the next four decades, and would still rise sharply in each of the provinces. Combining this result with the results observed for Projections B, C, and D, it is safe to say that population aging will be a prominent fact of life for the provinces of Atlantic Canada over the coming decades, regardless of what happens to migration, mortality, and fertility. As elsewhere in the country, the inertia of the collective aging process is too strong to be offset by other demographic influences.

We can go further. Suppose that an immediate and sustained improvement in the economic fortunes of the region resulted in a sudden reversal of demographic trends, all favouring more rapid population growth. Suppose an increase in fertility (Projection D) were to be combined with an immediate end to net interprovincial out-migration from each of the provinces (an exaggeration of the assumption underlying Projection A) and that each were to begin immediately to receive a proportionate share of immigrants. We do not show the projection based on this implausible set of assumptions, but simply note that even then the proportion of older people would increase sharply. We conclude that population aging is inevitable, and something that cannot be ignored in the framing of economic and social policy. If ever there was something that could be anticipated far in advance, it is surely the future increase in the elderly population.



What Effects on the Economy?

Population growth and age structure have profound economic implications. It is beyond the scope of this paper to explore in any detail how the economies of the Atlantic Provinces will be affected by demographic change. However, it is perhaps helpful to indicate the nature of the effects that one would look for, and some of the questions that one would want to address if effects on the economy were to be explored further.

The most direct and obvious effect of population change is on the productive capacity of the economy. A higher birth rate produces a larger number of new entrants into the labour market after a little less than two decades. The potential size of the work force is thus increased. But there are other effects too. On the one hand, young entrants have received their formal training only recently. They are the bearers of new ideas, and are likely to be more adaptable than older workers. On the other hand, they are inexperienced, and that tends to limit their immediate contribution to productivity. The labour force will be numerically greater as a consequence of an influx of youth, but when and by how much its average level of productivity will rise depends on the net result of those opposing tendencies. Studies have shown productivity to rise generally with age, but to flatten out in mid-career, and then possibly fall somewhat as retirement age approaches. (That is an average sort of pattern; the pattern varies from one occupation to another.)

The present situation in the Atlantic Provinces, and generally throughout Canada, is of course the reverse of what we have just described. The low birth rates of the past quarter century mean falling numbers of new labour force entrants, and consequently fewer young, recently trained, more adaptable, but less experienced workers. That situation will probably continue for many decades to come. The rate of labour force growth is likely to decline, and the average age of the working population to rise. A remaining question is what will happen to labour productivity as a result of the change in the proportions of younger and older workers.



Migration of course provides an alternative source of labour force growth, and one with effects that are more or less immediate, since migrants tend to be concentrated in the younger adult ages. However, the Atlantic Region has received only a small share of immigration to Canada in recent decades, and it has had a deficit in its exchange of population with the rest of the country. Circumstances vary from province to province, but overall it seems unlikely that the labour force of the region will expand to any considerable extent as a consequence of migration. Indeed, it is more likely to contract from migration if the recent outflows from Newfoundland continue. Thus neither natural increase nor migration can be expected to provide much of a stimulus on the supply side of the economy, or to be a significant source of growth in the region's productive capacity. A question, then, is to what extent technological advances and capital investment will offset the slow growth and likely eventual decline of the labour force.

Turning to the demand side of the economy, new household formation is also determined by births, with a lag of two decades or more, and by migration. Standard economic life cycle theory tells us that households save during their working years and dissave in old age. There are many qualifications to that, and there is evidence that for many households saving continues well after retirement. Of course, the presence of children also alters a household's saving/consumption pattern, as does a spell of unemployment. The main point, though, is that the age distribution of its population can have an important bearing on a society's patterns of saving and spending, and on the types of consumption goods that are purchased. The demand for new housing is related directly to the rate of household formation; the demand for food, clothing, and recreation to average household size and composition; the demand for educational services to the numbers and age distribution of children; and so on.

Population-related changes in rates of saving have a bearing on the financial resources available for investment. Changes in consumption patterns affect the demand for the products of different industries, inducing some to expand, others to contract. Rates and types of investment are thus influenced—investment in residential and nonresidential building construction, in machinery and equipment, in roads, sewage systems, and infrastructure generally. The demand for imports may be affected too, both in size and composition. Changes in the fortunes of individual industries have implications for employment, and for the availability of jobs in particular parts of the economy: some areas and occupations may prosper, others suffer. In short, the economic effects of population change can be important, varied, and pervasive.



42

The effects will be felt in both the private and public sectors of the economy. Public-sector effects include changes in the tax base, on the one hand, and in the demands for program expenditures, on the other. Some of the expenditure effects are obvious: expansion of educational facilities following a rise in the birth rate, retrenchment and coping with excess capacity following a decline; increased requirements for hospital beds and health care personnel as the population ages; increased pension commitments as larger numbers of people cross the retirement threshold. But other types of public expenditure are affected too. We have carried out detailed studies of the effects of population change on government budgets at the federal level, and for the Province of Ontario (Denton and Spencer, 1978, 1985, 1995). The studies have identified those types of expenditure that are insensitive, or relatively insensitive, to changes in the population (defence expenditure is a good example at the federal level), and those that are highly sensitive. Similar studies would be possible for other provinces. They would identify those areas of public expenditure in which demographic change indicates that contraction might be appropriate and those in which increases would be required if service levels were to be maintained.

Health care is an area of concern to provincial governments across the country. Expenditures on health care have risen sharply, and controlling them has become one of the most prominent (and controversial) aspects of public policy. A widespread belief is that the increases are largely a consequence of population aging. That is not correct; the collective aging process is much too slow to account for the recent increases, and one must seek the causes elsewhere.² Nevertheless, the aging process continues, slowly but inexorably, and it will put increasing pressure on health care systems as time passes. An understanding and anticipation of the effects of population change in that area of public policy will be extremely important, given that health care programs represent such large fractions of overall government spending.

With our colleague Amiram Gafni we have developed a detailed model of the health care system in Ontario—SHARP, as it has been named ("System for Health Area Resource Planning"). SHARP encompasses submodels of health care requirements and resource



² For example, between 1966 and 1995 provincial expenditures on health care in Atlantic Canada increased more than 350 per cent (after allowing for price increases) while the population increased by only 20 per cent; even the older population (which uses relatively more health care services) increased less than one-quarter as rapidly as expenditures. We note also that during that same period education expenditures increased more than three-fold, even though the population under the age of 20 declined by almost 30 per cent.

availability, including the availability of hospital beds and physicians, nurses, and other practitioners. It allows one to explore the implications of alternative health care delivery systems by computer simulation and to compare the future requirements of the population with the future availability of resources. (For description and applications of SHARP, see Denton, Gafni, and Spencer, 1992, 1993, 1994, 1995a, 1995b.)

The development of SHARP required the assembly of data from a variety of sources, and the fitting of the data into a consistent framework representing the health care system as a whole. That exercise alone we found to be helpful as an aid to understanding how the system works, quite apart from the use of SHARP itself for simulation analysis. In developing SHARP we emphasized the importance of viewing health care as a comprehensive, integrated system, rather than looking at only one part of the system or another in isolation, and designing policies piecemeal. The model can be used to address many questions of policy relevance. What are the implications for personnel requirements, and for future enrolment in training programs? More specifically: how many physicians will be required, in each specialty, to serve the health care needs of the changing population? How many nurses and other health care providers? What about physical facilities? How many hospital bed days will be needed, and of those, how many in intensive care, rehabilitation, and so on? How many bed days in nursing homes? What difference would it make if more care were to be provided in "the community", less in institutions?

The need to anticipate demographic change is evident also for the education system. In each of the provinces in the region the school age population is likely to be much smaller in the years ahead than it is today. The numbers are quite striking. Based on our Projection A, for example, the decrease in the population of elementary school age will be roughly in the range one-tenth (Prince Edward Island) to one-third (Newfoundland) over the next two decades, and in a similar range in the following two decades. With obvious lags, the smaller numbers will work their way through the entire education system, affecting secondary and then post-secondary enrolment as well. The smaller numbers of students at each level suggest a reduction in the requirements for teachers. But how well will normal attrition through retirement and departures of teachers for other reasons match the anticipated reduction in student numbers? What are the implications for teacher training programs? What about the number of classrooms that will be required, and the associated implications for capital expenditures? In such matters there are obvious advantages in anticipating well in advance the consequences of demographic trends.



Summing Up

Let us take stock. The Atlantic Region has experienced considerable demographic growth. Nevertheless, its percentage of the Canadian population has declined continuously over the past half-century, and further declines seem likely. In large measure that can be attributed to the fact that the region, and each of its provinces, receive disproportionately small shares of immigrants to Canada. Like the rest of the country, the Atlantic Provinces experienced the postwar baby boom, and the subsequent bust, and in consequence their populations are now aging, in a collective sense. Within a little over a decade the first of the baby boomers will be "old" by conventional definition, and the percentages of population 65 and over will rise continuously in the decades that follow. If rates of fertility remain at or near their current low levels, population growth will eventually be replaced by decline. Net migration to and from the rest of Canada has been strongly negative in Newfoundland, and the population of that province has actually decreased in recent years. Even if a migration balance were to be restored the present outlook is for substantial further declines in Newfoundland as a result of its exceptionally low fertility rates. While slower growth and eventual declines are in prospect throughout the Atlantic Region, the trend is likely to be much more pronounced in Newfoundland.

As the rate of population growth diminishes in Atlantic Canada, so too does the rate of growth of the labour force. That, coupled with relatively low participation rates, has important implications for the future productive capacity of the region. Actual levels of production (and hence income) continue to be restricted by unemployment rates well above the national average. In some other respects, though, the labour force patterns of the region are quite similar to those of Canada as a whole. A notable similarity is in the increased participation of women.

The relationship between the working and nonworking components of the population can be captured in a simple way by calculating "dependency" ratios. We have calculated two types: (a) the ratio of the total population to the population 20 to 64 years of age, and (b) the ratio of the total population to the labour force. Both types reflect the "burden" of the age distribution at any given time. Our projections indicate that the "dependency burden" will rise in Atlantic Canada, as elsewhere in the country, and that it will continue to rise far into the future. One would expect that as the population ages. What is of particular interest, though, is that even by 2036, the end of our projection period, the "burden" will fall short



of what it was in the 1950s and 1960s. The dependent population will be predominantly elderly rather than youthful, as in those earlier decades, but the overall ratios will not be as high. In light of that we have suggested that issues of reallocation of resources will be the important ones, rather than the total "cost" of population aging.

We have focused mainly on a particular set of demographic projections, based on what we think are reasonable assumptions. Our projections, like all others, will be wrong; to state the obvious, no one can anticipate the future with certainty. However, alternative projections suggest that the main conclusions are unlikely to be affected much by changing the assumptions. Faster declines in mortality rates would have very little effect on the growth and age distribution of the population. There is nothing to suggest that fertility rates will increase sharply, but even if they were to increase, the age distribution would still shift toward the older end; population aging would still be a future fact of life. Changes in rates of migration would alter the rates of growth, of course, but they too would not reverse the collective aging process. Indeed, if out-migration were to remain at recent levels in the Atlantic Region as a whole, and especially in Newfoundland, the increases in the proportions of elderly people would generally be greater than what we have predicted, inasmuch as migrants tend to be concentrated in the younger adult ages.

Slower growth and aging affect the labour force, and hence a region's ability to generate output and income. But they affect virtually all other aspects of the economy too. They affect patterns of saving and household consumption, and hence investment. They have differential effects on sales, production, and investment levels in different industries, and their impact thus falls unevenly on different areas within a region. They affect the tax bases from which provincial governments must draw revenue, and they affect too the demands for government program expenditures. Work carried out in other contexts suggests the feasibility and importance of anticipating the effects of population change on government expenditures.

Education, pensions, and health care are major budgetary components with obvious sensitivity to population change, and they deserve special attention. However, other components can be affected also. In the case of health care, it is particularly important that the delivery system be viewed as just that—a system—in assessing the implications of population change, and that future resource availability be considered, as well as requirements. That is true of education and other government program areas, but it is especially important in the case of health care, where piecemeal and inconsistent policies are a greater risk.



46

We conclude with further observations concerning the relationships between prospective demographic change, on the one hand, and public expenditures, on the other. In each of the provinces in the Atlantic region economic planning should anticipate that the school age population will be much smaller in the years ahead than it is today. That is of major practical concern: How many teachers will be required in 10, 20, or 30 years in each of the provinces? How many will have to be hired, after taking into account the likely numbers of retirements, and departures for other reasons? What are the implications for teacher training programs? How much classroom space will be needed? At the other end of the age spectrum, planning should anticipate large increases in the numbers of elderly people. What health care and other services will be required to meet the needs of a rapidly aging population? How much of each type of service? And how will future needs for personnel and facilities compare with what are likely to be available? Only careful analysis can provide the information required to make well informed policy decisions and policies that take prospective demographic changes into account are likely to be better than those that ignore them. The case was put strongly in the April 1995 Notice of Motion establishing the Select Committee of the Legislature on Demographics in New Brunswick: "It is imperative for government to understand and assess the impact of our changing society in the context of our aging population and the demands and challenges this presents for the design and delivery of programs and services". (Province of New Brunswick, 1996).





References

Atlantic Provinces Economic Council. 1987. *Atlantic Canada Today*, Formac Publishing Limited, Halifax.

Lawrence Copithorne. 1986. "Newfoundland Revisited", Economic Council of Canada Discussion Paper No. 296, Ottawa.

Frank T. Denton, Christine H. Feaver, and Byron G. Spencer. 1994a. "Economic-Demographic Projection and Simulation: A Description of the MEDS System of Models", in K. Vananadha and Jerry W. Wicks (eds.), *Studies in Applied Demography*, Bowling Green University.

Frank T. Denton, Christine H. Feaver, and Byron G. Spencer. 1997. "PMEDS-D: USERS' MANUAL", McMaster University Institute for Quantitative Studies in Economics and Population (QSEP), Research Report No. 326.

Frank T. Denton, Amiram Gafni, and Byron G. Spencer. 1992. "Resource Requirements and Availability: An Integrated System of Models for Health Care Planning", in M.K. Chytil, G. Duru, W. Van Eimeren, and Ch. D. Flagle (eds.), *Health Systems: The Challenge of Change*, Omnipress.

Frank T. Denton, Amiram Gafni, and Byron G. Spencer. 1993. "The SHARP Computer System: A Tool for Resource Planning in the Health Care Sector", in M. Malek, J. Rasquinha, and P. Vaconi (eds.), *Strategic Issues in Health Care Management*, John Wiley and Sons.

Frank T. Denton, Amiram Gafni, and Byron G. Spencer. 1994. "System for Health Area Resource Planning (SHARP): An Application to Ontario Medical School Enrolment", *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, Vol. 151, No. 1.

Frank T. Denton, Amiram Gafni, and Byron G. Spencer. 1995a. "Physician Supply in Ontario: Further Observations on SHARP and the SHARP Projections", *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, Vol. 152, No. 9.

Frank T. Denton, Amiram Gafni, and Byron G. Spencer. 1995b. "The SHARP Way to Plan Health Care Services: A Description of the System and Some Illustrative Applications in Nursing Human Resource Planning", *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, Vol. 29, No. 2.

Frank T. Denton and Byron G. Spencer. 1978. "Population Change and Public Expenditures", in *Conference on Economic and Demographic Change: Issues for the 1980s, Solicited Papers*, International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, Helsinki.



48

Frank T. Denton and Byron G. Spencer. 1985. "Prospective Changes in the Population and Their Implications for Government Expenditures", in Thomas J. Courchene, David W. Conklin, and Gail C. Cook (eds), *Ottawa and the Provinces: The Distribution of Money and Power*, Ontario Economic Council.

Frank T. Denton and Byron G. Spencer. 1995. "Demographic Change and the Cost of Publicly Funded Health Care", *Canadian Journal on Aging*, Vol. 14, No. 2.

Frank T. Denton and Byron G. Spencer. 1997. "Population Aging and the Maintenance of Social Support Systems", *Canadian Journal on Aging*, Vol. 16, No. 3.

DRI Canada. 1994. "Atlantic Canada: Facing the Challenge of Change, A Study of the Atlantic Economy", Discussion Paper.

Economic Council of Canada. 1980. *Newfoundland: From Dependency to Self-Reliance*, Supply and Services Canada, Ottawa.

James P. Feehan. 1991. "Learning from Studies of Newfoundland's Economic Problems", *Newfoundland Studies*, Vol. 7, No. 1, Spring.

Douglas House. 1986. *Building on Our Strengths*, Report of the Royal Commission on Employment and Unemployment, Queen's Printer, St. John's Newfoundland.

James Melvin. 1987. "Regional Inequalities in Canada: Underlying Causes and Policy Implications", *Canadian Public Policy*, Vol 12, pp. 304-317.

Province of New Brunswick. 1996. New Brunswick at the Dawn of a New Century: A discussion paper on demographic issues affecting New Brunswick.



AIMS LIBRARY

-ij hande en bandenen in handelike eo	Qty	Name of Publication	Amount	GST
---------------------------------------	-----	---------------------	--------	-----

Books

Taking Ownership: Property Rights and Fishery Management on the Atlantic Co	oast	30.00	2.10
edited by Brian Lee Crowley			
Looking the Gift Horse in the Mouth: The Impact of Federal Transfers on Atlan	ntic	15.00	1.05
Canada (photocopies only)			
by Fred McMahon			
Revolution at the Roots: Making the Government Smaller, Better and Closer to)	15.00	1.05
Home			
by William Eggers & John O'Leary			

Research Reports

Population Change in Atlantic Canada: Looking at the Past, Thinking about the	15.00	1.05
Future		
by Frank T. Denton, Christine H. Feaver & Byron G. Spencer		
New Brunswick's Power Failure: Choosing a Competitive Alternative	10.00	1.05
by Tom Adams		
Debtor's Prison: Public Sector Debt and What It Means for You	15.00	1.05
by Tom Riley		
Towards Sustainable Development in Atlantic Canada: A Case for UI Reform	15.00	1.05
by Doug May & Morley Gunderson		
Reforming the Universities: The Coming Upheaval in Higher Education in Nova	15.00	1.05
Scotia and Elsewhere		
by Edwin G. West		
Venture Capital in Atlantic Canada: Asking the Right Questions	15.00	1.05
by Fred McMahon & Dane Rowlands		

Commentary Series

Let's Debate the Facts: Did Government Policy Lead to Wage Distortion in Atlantic	8.00	0.56
Canada and its Economic Consequences?		
by Fred McMahon		
Management and Workers: Co-adventurers in Creating Jobs in Profits	8.00	0.56
by Fred McMahon		
Securing the CPP's Future: Real Reforms for Real Problems	8.00	0.56
by Fred McMahon & Don Cayo		
Behind the Cod Curtain: A Perspective on the Political Economy of the Atlantic	12.00	0.84
Groundfish Fishery		
by Leslie Burke & Leo Brander		
Making the Oceans Safe for Fish: How Property Rights Can Reverse the	12.00	0.84
Destruction of the Atlantic Fisheries		
by Elizabeth Brubaker		
Allocating the Catch Among Fishermen: A Perspective on Opportunities for	15.00	1.05
Fisheries Reform		
by Peter H. Pearse		
Pensioning off the CPP: Pension Reform and Economic Development	12.00	0.84
by Brian Lee Crowley		
Atlantic Canada: A Vision for the Future	12.00	0.84
by Frank McKenna	1	

Speakers Series

Three Reasons Why Federal Fiscal Restraint Would Be Good for Atlantic Canada	12.00	0.84
by Michael Walker		
Turning Pain into Gain: What Atlantic Canadians Can Learn from the New Zealand	8.00	0.56
Experience (transcripts)		
A composite transcript of three talks (cassettes)	10.00	0.70
by Sir Roger Douglas		
The Coming Revolution in Local Government: Conference Binder and the book,	70.00	4.90
Revolution at the Roots	80.00	5.60
Proceedings of Rising Tide?: Rights-based Fishing on the Atlantic Coast, the	25.00	1.75
November 1996 AIMS fisheries conference in St. John's, Newfoundland		
Choosing Better Schools: Conference Binder including video and booklet (The	30.00	2.10
Charter School Idea: Breaking Educational Gridlock), and Charter Schools in		
Atlantic Canada		
by Joe Freedman (with Fred McMahon), the May 1997 AIMS charter schools		
conference in Fredericton, New Brunswick		
Proceedings of Everybody's Business: Market Solutions for Rural Development in	10.00	0.70
Atlantic Canada, the June 1998 RSTP/AIMS conference on Rural Development in		
Sackville, New Brunswick		

Individuals receive a 40 per cent discount off the usual price; AIMS Supporters receive a 50 per cent discount.

\sim		Γ
()	DDED	$-\Omega M$
U	RUER	

Subtotal	\$			
Discount (if applica	\$			
GST (only within C	\$			
Shipping and Hand	\$			
Total	\$			
Lam paving by	T VISA	□ Mastercard	🗆 Cheque (e	enclosed)
r ann paying by.				enclosed)

Credit card #:	Expiry Date:	
Name on Card:	Signature:	
Name:	Organization:	
Address:		
Telephone:	Facsimile:	
E-Mail:		

Atlantic Institute for Market Studies 1657 Barrington Street, Suite 521, Halifax, NS B3J 2A1 Telephone: (902) 429-1143 Facsimile: (902) 425-1393 E-mail: aims@aims.ca For more information please check our website at **www.aims.ca**



AIMS is an independent economic and social policy think-tank. Our objective is to broaden the policy debate to make Atlantic Canadians, and Canadians more generally, aware of the full range of options for resolving our economic and social problems, and the consequences of those options for our quality of life. To that end, AIMS is an active voice in public policy discussions, publishing practical analysis and policy recommendations. We also sponsor seminars, workshops, conferences, and a distinguished public speakers program.

YES! I want to support AIMS. Supporters receive early notification of AIMS events, free copies of *The Independent*, and discounts on other publications and ticket prices.

I want to become:

□ an inc			dividual Supporter (\$100 minimum)		
		a student Supporter (\$25.00)			
		a not-for-p	profit association of	or small business*	
		Supporter	(\$200 minimum)		
		(*less than	20 employees an	d \$2 million annual revenue)	
		a corporate Supporter (\$500 minimum)			
		a Public Se	ector Subscriber (S	3300)	
Name:					
Title:					
Organization:					
Address:					
Telephone:	Facsimile:				
E-mail:					
I am paying by:	. .	VISA	□ Mastercard	□ Cheque (enclosed)	
Credit card #:			Expiry Date:		
Name on Credit card:			Signature:		

Please send or fax this form to 1657 Barrington Street, Suite 521, Halifax, NS B3J 2A1 Telephone: (902) 429-1143 Facsimile: (902) 425-1393 E-mail: aims@aims.ca For more information please check our website at **www.aims.ca**